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UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

ANTOINETTE BURNS
Plaintiff

V.

GEORGETOWN UNIVERSITY
MEDICAL CENTER, et al,

Defendants

Civil Action No. 13-898 (CKK)

MEMORANDUM OPINION
(August12, 2016)

This case is about a medical fellowship gone awry. As a result of the evantbates
below, Plaintiff Lieutenan€olonel Antoinette Burns-the participant in the fellowshigbrings
contractbased claims against Defendants Georgetown University Medical Center
(“Georgetowh or “GUMC”) and against MedStar Georgetown University Hosftdle
Hospital) (Counts I, II, and Il1)! Burns also brings three tort clairagsing out of the events
described belowa negligent defamation claim against the Hospital gaghat Dr. Matthew
Levy (Count IV); an intentional defamation claim against Levy (Counag; a claim for
intentional interference with prospective economic advantage agains{Cewgt V1).
Defendants move for summary judgment on all of the claintssrcase.

Specifically,before the Courdre DefendantledStar Georgetown University Hospital’
[62] Motion for Summary Judgment as to Counts |, Il, andddfendant Georgetown

University Medical Centés [63] Motion for Summary Judgment as to Counts I, II, and 1ll; and

! The formal names of the institutional defendants are Georgetown Universityodisingss as
Georgetown University Medical Center, and Med&aorgetown Medical Center, Inc., doing
business as MedStar Georgetown University Hospital. The former reféeorgetowrs
medical school; the latter refers to thespital, which is—and has been at all times relevant to
this case—a separate legal entity from tbaiversity.
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DefendaniMedStar Georgetown University Hospital's and Defendant Matthew Levy, 81.D.’

[64] Joint Motion for Summary Judgment as to Counts IV, V, and VI. In additiooreotfe

Court are Defendaritfs5] Motion In Limineto Preclude Plaintifs Use at Trial of Evidence
Inadmissible under the District of Columbia Peer Review Statute and Plaijf@éf Motion In
Limineto Exclude Evidence of Settlement Discussions. Upon consideratioa pletdings,

the relevant legal authorities, and the record as a whole, the Court GRANTS decthoée
pending motions for summary judgmeBDefendants, collectively, raise a host of arguments as to
why none of the claims in this case surnswnmaryudgment; the Court outlines and addresses
those arguments below. In short, however, the Court concludes that Defendants prewil on ea
of the respective motions for summary judgment, and the Court grants sujndggmentto
Defendants on all claims inighcase. With respect to the dueling motionémine, the Court

need not resolve them in order to resolve the three pending motions for summary judgment
Accordingly, the CourDENIES AS MOOTthe two motionsn limine. The Court dismisses this

case in its entirety.

2 The Court’s consideration has focused on the following documents:

e Def. MedStaiGeorgetown University Hospital's Motion for Summary Judgment as to
Counts I, Il, andll (“Def.’s Mot”), ECF No. 62Def. MedStals Reply in Support
Thereof, ECF No. 73;

e Def. GUMCSs Mot. for Summary Judgment as to Counts |, I, ang‘Def. GUMC's
Mot.”), ECF No. 63 Def. GUMCs Reply in Support Thereof, ECF No. 74;

e Def. MedStar Georgetown University Hospital’'s and Defendant Matthew, MD.’s
Joint Motion for Summary Judgment as to Counts IV, V, and VI, ECF N &4;
Reply in Support Thereof, ECF No. 75; and

e Pl’s Combined Opp’n to DefsMotions for Summary Judgme(itPl.’s Opp’n), ECF
No. 71.

In an exercise of its discretion, the Court finds that holding oral argument irctilois would
not be of assistance in rendering a decistael CVR 7().
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I.BACKGROUND
The Court presents here the minimal background necessary to set the stage for the
discussion of the issues raised in the pending motions. Specifically, the Coursfoetesen the
establishment of Plaintiff fellowship, includng the several agreements that set the parameters

for thatfellowship, as well as the events that led toghdyterminationof the fellowship.

A. TheFelowship Begins

Prior to the events that underlie this case, Plaintiff was trained as aighysid served
as a pediatrician in the United States Air Fo8®eP|.’s Counter-Statement of Undisputed
Material Facts, ECF No. 71 (“Pl.s CounterStmt”), 18-12. In January 2011, Plaintiff was
informed that she had been selected by the Armed Serdaias Graduate Medical Education
Selection Board for additional civilian sponsored training in pediatrics, includirapgters
degredn public health, for a period between August 1, 2011, and July 31, 36&Bl.'s Oppn,
Ex. 19 (Selection Letter)d., Ex. 11(“Grau Test), at 19:10-20:22 (clarifying that date was
January 2011). Plaintiff was to remain on active duty during the period of trainingtbhade
command of the Air Force Institute of Technolo§glection Letteat 1 Plaintiff was prohibited
from receiving a salary or stipend from the training institutidnAfter evaluating multiple
opportunities, Plaintiff was accepted and chose to attend the program at Georgéets
CounterStmt. at 181, 34.

Before the fellowship could commence, several agreements were-siggesements
that are at the heart of this ca¥he Court reviewthe agreement between the Air Force and
Georgetown University Medical Centéollowed by the agreement between Plaintiff and

Georgetown University Medical Center, as well as several related agreement



Georgetown University Medical Center athe United States Air Force entered into a
“MedicalResidency/Fellowship Agreeméntgardng Plaintiffs training.SeeDef.s Mot., EX.
G at 23; Pl.s Oppn, Ex. 22 at 2-3*Medical Residency/Fellowship AgreemgntDavid
Rubenstein, Vice President for Financial Planning and Analysis, signegréesreent on &half
of Georgetown University Medical Center on June 8, 2011; the next day, June 9, 2011,
Lieutenant Colonel Debra Miesle signed the agreement on behalf of the Uaiiesl S
specifically on behalf of the Air Force Institute of Technold@ee idThere were no other
signatories to thagreement. The agreement appears foalsed ora form agreement, with
information specific to Plaintit fellowship filled in as necessaiyeed.; Pl.'s Oppn, Ex. 21
(e-mail stating that the 2011 template should be used for the M&bsalency/Fellowship
Agreement) The agreement begins with the following provision:

1. It is understood th#@ntoinette Theodora Burngill take residency/fellowship

training atGeorgetown University Post Doctoral Fellowship in Community

Pediatrics w/MPHoncurrently with his/her official Air Force duties from
1 August 2011 to 31 July 2013.

Medical Residency/Fellowship Agreement &t Phe agreement includes other provisions
regading remuneration of Plaintifinsurance, liability, and the terminationtbfs agreement.

See idat 23. Further explanation of these provisions is reserved for the discussion of tke issue
below.This agreement was accompanied by aeage“Memorandum for Training Institutién

from Lieutenant ColoneMiesle, theChief of theHealthcare Education Division of the Air Force

Institute of Technology, who also signed the Medical Residency/Fellowsgingefentld. at 1.

3 There is no difference between the versions of the Medical Residency/Fefiédvgsaement
attached to Defendantsriefing and to Plaintiffs briefing, except that only the version attached
by Defendants includes the signature on behalf of the Agd-o

4 Beneath the underlined information in this excerptich as Plaintifs name—the agreement
specifies the type of information to be completed in each “Blanich as First name, MI, Last
Name”and ‘Name of Training Institutiof.



That Memorandum stated tHatv]e understand that an Air Force military officer, named in the
attached agreemehas been accepted for residency/fellowship training by your institution for
periods indicated in the attached agreemedt.The Memorandum further stated tHaihe Air
Force officer will not be able to start training at your institution until both ymstitution and

the Air Force sign this agreeménid.

Through a letter dated August 1, 2011, on letterhead of Georgetown UniversigaMedi
Centerand addressed to Plaintiff by narfégintiff was offereda non-paid Post-doctoral
Research Fellowshigppointment in the Department of Pediatrics at the Georgetown University
Medical Center, effective August 2011.”Pl.’s Opp’n, Ex. 25“GUMC Offer Letter”) at 1.The
letter explained that Plaintiff was offered the fellowship positparsuant to a Medal
Residence/Fellowship Agreement between the U.S. Air Force and GeordeithwWitnat
document was accompaniedthye GUMCResearch Fellowship Agreemeartd the GUMC
Research Fellowship Polichd. at 1-2. The offer letter further stated as follows:

If the terms specified in the letter and the accompanyingd@asbral Research

Fellowship Agreement are acceptable and you have read and agree to be bound by

these terms and the policies referred to herein by reference, please sigrethis lett

and the enclosed agreement and return both to me within fifteen (15) days of the
date of receipt of this letter.

Id. at 2. The letter was signed by David B. Nelson, identified as Professor andrCaddition,
the letterhead identifies Nelson as affiliated with Getogn University Childrers Medical
Centerld. at 1-2. Plaintiff signed the letter, underneath text indicatimgf she was accepting the
offer as set out in the letter, and dated it August 25, 2614t 2.

An additional agreement between Plaintiff dhd Georgetown University Medical
Center, thé Research Fellowship Agreement: Georgetown University Medical Center,
referencd in the offer letter, sets out obligations of the Research Fellow (Plaintiffpfan

Georgetown University Medical Center. Def.’s Mot., EK.Research Fellowship Agreemént
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at 1-4. The Research Fellowship Agreement was signed by Plaintiff and dagedt®5, 2011,
under the heading “for the Postdoctoral Felfol. at 4. For Georgetown University Medical
Center, the agreemewis signed by a faculty supervisor (dated August 24, 2011), by the
department chailNelson (dated August 24, 2011), and bydbeior associate dean for faculty
and academic affairs (dated September 15, 2011).

The record also includescapy of a singlgpage of an offer letter pertaining to the same
position, with almost identical text, on letterhead of MedStar Georgetown SitywEospital
and dated June 2, 2011. BlOppn, Ex. 25. The letter does not include a signature page, and
there is nandicationwhether the letter was setot Plaintiff or signedoy any of the partiesd.
The record does indicate, however, that multiple versions of the offer leteeewaranged
between the parties during teemmerof 2011.SeePl.’s Oppn, Ex. 21, atMedStar00000026.
Like the offer letter on the Georgetown University Medical Center letterhieadetteistated
that Plaintiff was being offeda “full-time Postdoctoral Research Fellowship appointment in
the Department of Pediatrics at the Georgetbwiversity Medical Center.ld., Ex. 25,at 1°

In addition to the agreements described above, the two institutional defendants in this
case—Georgetown University Medical Center and MedStar Georgetown Univetsgpital—
entered into a letter agreement regarding their respective responsibilitbesecton with
Plaintiff's role as a Pofdoctoral Fellow in Community Pediatrics and Child AdvocacysPI.’

Oppn, Ex. 55, at 1. Tht letter was dated August 1, 201d. On behalf of Georgetown

> The June 2, 2011, letter states that the appointment would be effective July 1, 2014s titeere
August 1, 2011, letter states that it would be effective on August 1, 2011; but bothsletiers
that the term of the position is to begin on August 1, 2CbmparePl.’s Oppn, Ex. 25, at 1

with id., Ex. 26, at 1The discrepancy in dates suggest that the letter with the later date
superseded the earlier one.



University, itwas signed by David Rubenstein, Vice President, Financial Planning ary$i&nal
Georgetown Universityd. at 2. On behalf dledStarGeorgetown University Hospital, it was
signed by Richard Goldberg, President, and by David Nelson, Chair, Departmedtaifies®

Id. at 4.Finally, Plaintiff applied for clinical privilegeand themeceived credentials to serve as a

provisional member of the professiontdféat the HospitalSeePl.s Mot., Exs. 27, 34.

B. TheEnd of the Fellowship
Fast forwarcapproximately eighinonths’ OnApril 2, 2012, Joanne Oddhsent an e

mail to Plaintiff informing her that she had a meeting with Dr. Matthew LevynattdNelson

the following day (April 3) at 1 p.m. Pl.’s Count8tmt., 109. Levy and Nelson both held
academic appointments at Georgetown University and were employed by Mé&g8tgetown
University Hospitalld., §38. Levys position was as Medical Director for Community
Pediatricsld., 1 66. Also on April 2, 2012, Levy had a telephone conversation with Colonel
Thomas Grau, Rief, Air Force Personnel Center, Physician Education Branch, and Susan
Weeks, Deputy Chiefir Force Institute of Technology, Healthcare Education Dividibn.

1 111. During that conversation, Levy apprisedAind-orce that Plaintifivas being terminated
from the fellowship programd. Grau asked Levy to send him additional information in writing

indicating the specific competencies that Plaintiff had failed to salisfyf 113;see alsd?l.’s

® The printed name on the letter is David Nelson. The signatures on the copies ¢t tiet
record are difficult to read, andigunclear whether the letter was signed by Nelson himself or
by anotheHospital employeen his behalf.

" There is agreement that there wession between Plaintiff and Levy during this period,
although the parties vigorously dispute who is to blame. What happened during thainterve
months is immaterial to the Coisrtesolution of the pending motions.

8 Odom was identified in the signature of a differemail as* Program Administrator for
Community Pediatrg, KIDS Mobile Medical Clinic/Ronald McDonald Care Mobile,
Georgetown University HospitalPl.'s Counter-Stmt., § 39.
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Mot., Ex 24 (April 3, 2012Grau Memo for the Record)Grau Memao”).At a meetinghe next
day, April 3, 2012| evy handed Plaintiff a letter stating that she was being terminatedHi®m
fellowship programPl.’s CounterStmt., 114. The letter, on letterhead of Georgetown
Univergaty Medical Center, began as follows:
This letter is to inform you that the decision has been made to terminate your
Research Fellowship Agreement with Georgetown University Medical Garder
dismiss you from the Community Pediatrics and Child Advocacy Fellowship
Program This decision is made pursuant to Paragraph 8(a)(ll) of the Research
Fellowship Agreement, which provides fonmediate terminatiofif Research
Fellow has been intentionally or grossly delinquent in his or her cohdist.

detailed belowyou have repeatedly been provided notice of the deficiencies in
your conduct and have failed to correct them.

Pl’s Mot., Ex. 48 (Termination Letter), at(@mphasis added)fter cataloguing four categories
of deficiencies’ the letter stated that Plaint§fResearch Fellowship Agreemesnthe agreement
that Plaintiff signed on August 25, 2011, as explained abovas-terminatedeffective
immediately! Id. at 2. As a result, the letter stated that Plaintiff tvext permitted to function in
any capacity as a fellow from this point forward, and you should not enter the ggerhthe
Medical Center for any reason other than a personal health h&ethe letter also explained
that the Air Force would be notified regarding the decision “pursuant to the ¢érime Medical
Residency/Fellowship Agreemehtd. The letter was signed by both Nelson, listed as
“Chairman, Pediatrigsand Levy, listed asProgram Director, Community Pediatrics
Fellowship.”ld. On April 4, 2012, at Plaintiff's request, Grau had a conversationRigimtiff

regarding her notification that she was terminateds BbounterStmt,  121.

° The four categories are as follow§ailure to provide reliable clinical care to pediatric patients
on the [Georgetown Unersity Hostal] mobile medical clinic and at community clinjts
“Refusal to take supervisory direction or contribute to the teaRailtire to complete academic
work as assigned by the Program Dire¢tand “Failure to attend office houtslermination

Letter atl-2.



In December 2012, after negotiations betwienparties, Plaintiff was allowed to submit
a backdated resignation lett8eePl.'s Couner-Stmt, § 130; Defs$ Resp ECF No. 73-1, { 129.
Plaintiff then sent a letter to Nelson, dated April 3, 20i@spectfully request[ing] to be released
from thenon-paid Postloctoral Research Fellowship in the Department of Pediatrics at the
Georgetown University Medical CenteDef.’s Mot., Ex. K (Resignation Letter¥eePl.s
CounterStmt. 1130. Nelson responded to Plainsffetter of resignation in a lettdated
December 11, 2012, on letterhead of Georgetown University Medical Aenfed32. In that
letter, Nelson stated as followJhis letter confirms that, on April 3, 2012, you requested to be
released from the ngmaid Postdoctoral Research Felvship Agreement with Georgetown
University Medical Center and your request was granted(titing Def’s Mot., Ex. L).The
letter further stated thdfa]s a result, the Research Fellowship Agreement terminated on that
date.”ld.

On or about December 11, 2012, the date of Nedsietter accepting Plainti
resignationasecondermination letter wadrafted for Nelsois signatureld., 1134. The letter
was similar to the letter originally handed to Plaintiff on April 3, 2012, excepitthas on
letterhead of MedStar Georgetown University Hospital—rather than thatoo§&ewn
University Medical Centerand that it removed all references to the Research Fellowship
Agreement in the original lettdd. Specifically, the opening and closing of the letters,
which explained theffectsof therespectivdetters were different, while thexplanation of
Plaintiff’s substantive deficiencies was similHine second letter opened as follows:

This letter is to inform you that the decision has been radesmiss you from

the Community Pediatrics and Child Advocacy Fellowship Training Program. As

detailed below, you have repeatedly been provided notice of the deficiencies in
your conduct ath have failed to correct them.



Pl.’s Oppn, Ex. 57(MedStar Terrmation Letter) at 1. After explaininghe identified
deficiencies, with the same explanation as provided in the original terminationthettietter
then closed by stating thgtw]e strongly advise you to contact the Georgetown University
Medical Ceter regarding your Research Fellowship Agreemedt.at 2.While the second
termination letter was dated April 3, 2012, Nelson testified that he believedied $ige second
letter in December, 201PI.’s Couner-Stmt., 134.The letter was also sigddy Levy.
MedStar Termination Letter, at 2.

In addition, on December 12, 20113mie Padmore, Vice President for Acadendfaifs
of MedStar Healthinc., sent detterto Colonel Michael TankersleyGraus successer
regarding the status of Plaintsffellowship.SeePl.s Couner-Stmt. {137; Defs.Resp.Stmt.
1 137 (citing Def.’s Mot., Ex. A, 1 2)The letter stated as follows:

Per your request, the purpose of this letter is to provide you with information
regarding Dr. Antoinette Burns and the Community Pediatrics and Child
Advocacy Fellowship Training Program at MedStar Getorgn University
Hospital ( Pediatrics Fellowshij).

Dr. Burns was enrolled in the Pediasri€ellowship at MedStaBeorgetown
University Hospital(*Hospital) on August 1, 2011, pursuant to an agreement
between the Hospital and Georgetown University Medical CE€BMC”). Dr.
Burns was dismissed from the Pediatrics Fellowship by the Hospitgbial 3,
2012 for poor performance.

Following her dismissal from the Pediatrics Fellowship at the Hospital, DnsBu
voluntarily resigned from her ResearatilBwship Agreement with GUMC
Additionally, Dr. Buns resigned from her clinical privilegesthe Hospital
following her dismissal from the Pediatrics Fellowship.

The program director, Dr. Matthew Levy, will complete a Final Summative
Assessment of her academic performance in the Pediatrics Fellowship anol send t
you in the near future.

Pl.’s Oppn, Ex. 58.
On January 18, 2013, the Air Force Centralized Credentials Verificatiore@#ita

form to MedStar Georgetown University Hospital in order to verify Plaistiffaining at the
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hospital.SeePl.’s Oppn, Ex. 51 (Verification Form); Pl.’s Couer-Stmt., 1139. The form
included the following question: “Was this provider ever subject to any disciplcsion, such
as admonition, reprimand, suspension, or termindtivefification Form, at 1The answer

“yes to that question was markdd. The completed form included a notation statirsge*
attached document dat@/2012.%%1d. Levy signed the form, which was dated February 4,
2013.1d. The attached document was a Final Summative Assessment prepared regarding
Plaintiff's fellowship; the doument was on the letterhead of MedStar Georgetown University
Hospital andvasprepared andigned by Levy. Pls Oppn, Ex. 52, at 1, 4. The introduction to
the document was as follows:

Introduction: Dr. Antoinette Burns enrolled in they2ar Georgetown University
Hospital fellowship program in Community Pediatrics and Child Advocacy on
August 1, 2011. Dr. Buns was actively enrolled in the Air Force and was seeking
this additional training with theupport of her military supervisors. Dr. Burns
completed 8 months of the fellowship program and was subsequently dismissed
for poor academic performance on April 3, 2012. The following is a summary of
Dr. Burns’ academic performance based on the six core competencies:

Id. at 1. Plaintiffwas then evaluated accordingsi®g core competencies. The letter concluded as
follows:

In sum, Dr. Antoinette Burnperformance was unacceptable as measured by all
six core competencies. Her academic performance watianent for that of an
advanced trainee. Dr. Burns received ongoing assessments, formative and
summative feedback, and was unable to modify her performance, actions and
behaviors to an acceptable level. The program made the decision to dismiss her
from the academic program effective April 3, 201}2).

Id. at 34.

10t is apparent that the date in question was actually 2/4/2013 rather than 2/&@eA12s
Opphn, Ex. 52.

11 Although the letter states that Plaintiff was dismissed effective ARRIDB3 it is apparent that
the correct year of her dismissal was actuafly2
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In light of the foregoing events, Plaintiff filed this action, and now before the @oaurt

Defendantsseveral motions for summary judgment.

1. LEGAL STANDARD

Summary judgment is appropriate avh“the movant shows that there is no genuine

dispute as to any material fact and the movant is entitled to judgment as a mattér eéthvr.

Civ. P. 56(a). The mere existence of some factual dispute is insufficientamit® bar

summary judgmenthe dispute must pertain to material” fact.ld. Accordingly,“[ o]nly

disputes over facts that might affect the outcome of the suit under the governinij law

properly preclude the entry of summary judgnieAnderson v. Liberty Lobby, In@77 U.S.

242, 248 (1986). Nor may summary judgment be avoided based on just any disagreement as to
the relevant facts; the dispute must'gpenuine’] meaning that there must be sufficient

admissible evidence for a reasonable trier of fact to find for the non-médant.

In order to establish that a fact is or cannot be genuinely disputed, a party)itst {0
specific parts of the recordincluding deposition testimony, documentary evidence, affidavits or
declarations, or other competent evidenge support of its position, or (b) demonstrate that the
materials relied upon by the opposing party do not actually establish #recals presence of a
genuine disputezed. R. Civ. P. 56(c)(1onclusory assertions offered without any factual basis
in the record cannot create a genuine dispute sufficient to survive summary padgmecAsa
of Flight AttendantsCWA, AFL-CIO v. Deft of Transp, 564 F.3d 462, 465-66 (D.C. Cir. 2009).
Moreover, wheréa party fails to properly support an assertion of fact or fails to properlysgidre
another partys assertion of factfthe district court majconsider the fact undisputed for

purposes of the motionPed. R. Civ. P. 56(e).
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When faced with a motion for summary judgment, the district court may not make
credibility deerminations or weigh the evidence; instead, the evidence must be analyzed in the
light most favorable to the non-movant, with all justifiable inferences drawn favos Liberty
Lobby 477 U.S. at 255. If material facts are genuinely in dispute, ospuigid facts are
susceptible to divergent yet justifiable inferences, summary judgment isopajppe.Moore V.
Hartman 571 F.3d 62, 66 (D.C. Cir. 2009). In the end, the district cotask is to determine
“whether the evidence presents a sufficiesseigreement to require submission to a jury or
whether it is so oneided that one party must prevail as a matter of laérty Lobby 477
U.S. at 251-52. In this regard, the nmovant mustdo more than simply show that there is
some metaphysical doubt as to the material faMafsushita Elec. Indus. Co., Ltd. v. Zenith
Radio Corp, 475 U.S. 574, 586 (19867;i]f the evidence is merely colorable, or is not
significantly probative, summary judgment may be grahtetberty Lobby 477 U.S. at 249-50

(internal citations omitted).

[11. DISCUSSION
The Court first discusses the motions of Defendants Georgetown Universitgaledi
Center(“the Medical Centerdr “GUMC”) and MedStar Georgetown University Hosp(tdhe
Hospital) for summary judgment oRlaintiff’ s contractbased claims (Counts |, I, and Ill). The
Court then turns to the motion of Defendants MedStar Georgetown University Hosditad\ay

for summary judgment oRlaintiff’ stort-based claims (Counts 1V, V, and VI).

A. Contract Claims

Plainiff asserts three contrabised claims: a claim for breach of contraeised on a
third-partybeneficiary theory in connection with the contract signed by the Air Force (Qount

a claim for breach of contract, in connection with the contract signed by Plé@difht I1); and
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a claim for breach of impliedovenant of good faith and fair dealing (Count Ill). Each of these
three claims is asserted against both Georgetown University Medical @edtstedStar
Georgetown University Hospitabeorgetown Uniersity Medical Center presents several
arguments for summary judgment on each of the claims against it, which theev@wisrand
addresses below; the Hospital joins each of those argumenrdtsaratgues that the contractual
claims against it fail ag matter of law because the Hospital was not a party to any of the
contracts that form the bas§Plaintiff’s clains. Defendants also argue that, insofar as it
appears that Plaintiff is asseg new theories for her contrabasedclaims in her Opposibn,

she may not amend her complaint through her Opposition, and those claims fail on thasnerit
well.

Before addressg the partiesspecific arguments, the Court first sets down several
principles of law that guid#hediscussion below. First, neithparty disputes that District of
Columbia law applies to each of the claims in this célserefore, the Court will apply District
of Columbia law taall of the claims in this cas&econd, under District of Columbia law,
contract interpretation is a mattarlaw. Fort Lincoln Civic Assoc. v. Fort Lincoln New Town
Corp, 944 A.2d 1055, 1064 (D.C. 2008pecifically,“ ‘[i] n construing a contract, the court
must determine what a reasonable person in the position of the parties would have thought the
dispukd language meant. Id. (quotingUnfoldment, Inc. v. District of Columbia Contract
Appeals Bd.909 A.2d 204, 209 (D.C. 2006)). “ ‘Where the language in question is
unambiguous, its interpretation is a question of law for the cdud.’(citation omtted). “ ‘A
court must honor the intentions of the parties as reflected in the settled usageraigtaeag

accepted in the contract and will not torture words to import ambiguity where the ordinary
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meaning leaves no room for ambiguityld. (citation omitted).The Court proceeds to discuss

the individual claims with these principles in mind

1. Count I: Breach of Contract (Third Party Beneficiary)

Plaintiff's first breach of contract claim is based on a theory that Plaintiff is apuity
beneficiay of the agreememnterednto by the United States (i.e., the Air Force) and Defendant
Georgetown University Medical Cent&pecifically, Plaintiff claims that both institutional
defendants breached that agreement by (a) terminating Plaintiff withoutabesgr(b) failing
to provide 30day notice for termination of the agreement with the United States/the Ag;Forc
and (c)for failing to provide a competefgllowship training program? The basis for this claim
is the Medical Residency/Fellowship Agreement signed by the Air Rorddy Georgetown
University Medical Center, discussed abdseePl.s Oppn at 33-37. Both instutional
defendants argue that this claim fails because (1) Plaintiff was not gé#mtgdbeneficiary of the
Medical Residency/Fellowship Agreement and (2) Defendants did not breashlestantive
obligations of this agreement. The Hospital also axghat it was not a parto this agreement
and, therefore, cannot be liable for any alleged breach thereof.

The Court assumes without deciding that Plaintiff was a-fhairtly beneficiary of this
agreement. Nonetheless, the Court concludes that, based on the contract as prenpedieoht

no reasonablpiry could conclude that Defendants breached the agreemenCourt also

121n the Second Amended Complaint, Plaintiff alleged, as one of three basestfimkparty
beneficiary contract claim, that Plaintiff was terminated without naticbwvithout due process.
Comp. f27a. Plaintiff separately alleged th2efendants failed to provide 30 days nobé¢he
termination of the Agreemend., § 27b, which appears to be a reference to the 30-day notice
provision of the Medical Residency/Fellowship Agreement. With respect forther

allegation, Plaintiff ha abandoned the generabtice claim; she pursues only the due process
claim and 3@day notice claim under the Medical Residency/Fellowship AgreerSea®l.’'s
Oppn at 35-37.
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concludes that the Hospital was agparty to the Medical Residency/Fellowship Agreementt
any relevant agreement with the United Stétes could be the source of theeach of contract
claim alleged by Plaintiff.

The Court first adeesseswhether Defendant MedStar Georgetown University Hospital is
a party to this agreement. With respect to the status of the Hospital, it is most imgharttéme
contract, by its plain language, is an agreement between the United StatesiobAemtered by
an official of the Air Force Institute of Technology, and Georgetown Untyeviedical Center,
signed by David Rubenstein, Vice President for Financial Planning andsis18lgeMedical
Residency/Fellowship Agreement, affhe agreement refets two sides of the agreement: the
United States (or the Air Force), on one side, dhd institution, a consistent reference to
Georgetown University Medical Center, on the other datlat 1-2. Tellingly, the agreement
refers to MedStar Georgetowmlversity Hospital as an institution that is separate and distinct
from the parties to this agreement. Specifically, the institutiGeorgetown University Medical
Center—agreed tseparatelyenterinto a contract with the Hospitaluch thathe Hospitawould
provide certairservicedo the fellow.ld. at 1. That reference confirms that the Hospital is a
stranger to the contract atttht ithas undertaken no obligations as a result &imilarly, the
promise of the University to include certain provisions irs@parateontract with the Hospital,
id. at 2, does not make the Hospital a party to the contrititthe United StatefRather the
unambiguous reading of the contract aghale is that it is an agreement only between the

United States (througthe Air Force) and Georgetown University Medical Ceht&ecause the

13 Nor does the separate agreement between the University and the Hogpitlastiff s
fellowship make the Hospital a party to the Universiggntract with the United StateseePl.’s
Oppn, Ex. 55, at 1, in any form.
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Hospital is not a party to the contract with the United States, it cannot be tiableyfbreaches
of that contract.

Having established that the Hospital is not a party to the abntith the United States,
the Court turns to the several ways in which Plaintiff claims that Defendaathkckthe
contract*® First, Plaintiff claims that she was wrongfutBrminated without due process.
Defendants argue that there is no obligatsated to due processnbodied irthe Medical
Residence/Fellowship AgreemeRtaintiff effectively concedes as much and relies, in her
Opposition, on characterizations of the Air FosceXpectationsSeePl.’'s Oppn at 36-37 (citing
Pl.’s CounterStmt., 1148-49).But the Air Forcés unilateral expectations form no part of the
contract.The twepage Medical Residency/Fellowship Agreement is unambiguous and it
contains no such due process requirentee¢Def.’s Mot., Ex. G.Because the contract is
unambiguous, extrinsic evidence about the pantiederstandings have no relevance to the
interpretation of the agreement of the partg=e Fort Lincoln New TowA44 A.2d at 964That
is, the Air Forcés unilateraintentions as to the educational experiences of its offieeither in
general or as specifically applied to the program in which Plaintiff partezpibrm no part of
the bargain between the United States andhstéutional defendants. Accordinglylatiff’s
claim of breaclof contractbased on a failure to provide due process fails as a matter of law
against both institutional defendants.

Second, Plaintiff claims that Defendants violated the 30-day notice requirefhibat
Medical Residency/Fell@shipAgreement. Specificallfhe agreement states that thght is

reserved for either party hereto to terminate this training agreemert tanarby serving notice

14 Once again, the Court assumes without deciding that Plaintiff qualifieshiad-party
beneficiary forthe purposes of this discussion.
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on the other party thirty days in advance of sacton.” Def.’s Mot., Ex. G, at 2Plaintiff claims
that Defendants violated this provision because they did not give the Air Forcgs3fotiae
before they terminated Plaintiffellowship. Specifically, they claim that Defendant first gave
the Air Force notice on April 2, 2012, through the telephone conversation betweearicevy
Grau, but that Plaintiff was terminated only one day later—on April 3, ZHeP|.’s Counter-
Stmt., 1111, 114Plaintiff conflates the two institutional defendantthe Medical Center and
the Hospital—as shaloes throughout her briefing. Doing so is fatal to this prong of her first
contract claiminsofar as the Hospital terminated her from its pediatrics training program on
April 3, 2012, thatction cannot serve as the basis for the breacbrdfact clainbecause the
Hospital is not a party to the agreement with the United States; therefempttrequired to
abide by the notice provision of that agreem@/ith respect to Georgetown University Medical
Center, Plaintiffs claim faik because, althoughe University initially purported to terminate her
from the fellowship program, it ultimately allowed herétroactively exit the contract
voluntarily prior to the termination, as described above. Because that voluntary release took
effect prior to the terminatiomggally, there wasio termination by Defendant Georgetown
University Medical Centethatcould violatethe 3Gday notice provision.

Third, Plaintiff claims that Defendants violated thedwal Residency/Fellowship
Agreemenby failing to provide aompetentor “adequateprogram.SeeCompl. | 27c; Pls
Oppn at 36.However, the Medical Resideyl€Eellowship Agreement include® such promise
to the United State3he contract states agactual premise that Plaintiff is undergoing training
in pediatrics at the signatory institution, but it does not incardgoromises regarding the
content or quality of that training. Instead, the content of the contract isditoitasurance,

liability, and other such technical matte3seDef.'s Mot., Ex. G. As explained above, because
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the contract is unambiguous, no outside evidence as to either party’s understaatkdgaoehe
contractis relevant to its legal meaninijor are any other agreemts outside of the four corners
of the Medical Residency/Fellowship Agreement incorporated into itthiathhey create any
binding obligations owed to the United States. In short, neither this agreement ndraany ot
agreement creates any promise tolhéed States as to the content of the training program into
which Plaintiff entered. Accordingly, Defendants cannot be liable to Pfagxgn if she
gualified as a thirgbarty beneficiary, for failure to provide admpetent’or “adequatetraining
program.

For all of these reasons, Count | — Breach of Contract, on apthitg-beneficiary theory,
fails as a matter of law as to both Georgetown University Medical Center amtflasi$tar
Georgetown University Hospital, and the Court grants summary judgment to Defenddmss on t

claim.

2. Count |l: Breach of Contract

Plaintiff's second breach of contract claim is based on Fellowship Agreement that
Plaintiff herself signed directly. Compl. § 28. As described fully above, that dotusrtéled
Research FElwship Agreement: Georgmvn University Medical Center. Def.’s Mot., Ex. |
(“Research Fellowship Agreeméntat 1. That document was signed by Plaintiibr*“
postdoctoral fellow,and by severdUniversity officials“for Georgetown University Medical
Center Id. at 4. That agreement set out the obligations of Plaintiie“Research Fellow—
and of the Georgetown University Medical Cen&ae idat 1-4. It took effect on August 1,
2011.1d. at 1;see alsacCompl. § 28. In addition, to the ResearcHdweship Agreement itself,
both Plaintiff and a representative of Georgetown UsiyeMedical Center signed the offer

letter from Georgetown University Medical Center regarding Plaistifbstdoctoral Research
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Fellowship. Def.’s Mot., Ex. H, at 1-?h essence, Plaintiff claims that Defendants breached
whatsherefers to as theFellowship Agreemefitby terminating Plaintiff without notice; by
failing to provide her due process; failing to provide a compé&tdotvship program; failing to
provide a sudble environment for an educational research experience; and faipnoytde a
research training and an educational progi@eeCompl. T 28. Both institutional defendants
argue that this claim fails because the Research Fellowship Agreement was iyl
terminated by Plaintiff, terminating all obligations of the parties under theragreeThe
Hospital also argues that it was not a p#&otthis agreement and, therefore, cannot be liable for
any alleged breach thereof.

The Court first addresses whether Defendant MedStar Georgetown UniversitiyaHis
a party to the agreement thathe basis for this claim. The Court then addresses Defehdants
argument that all obligations under the contract were terminated by thearglaatly
termination of he contract.

As with theAir Forceagreement discussed abovéthwespect to the status of the
Hospitalin the contract signed by Plaintiff, it is most important that the contract, by its plain
language, is an agreement between Plaiatif Georgetown Uwersity Medical CenteiSee
Defs! Exs. H, 1.As noted above, the Research Fellowship Agreement was signed by several
representatives of Georgetown University Medical Center and explicithsdtathose
individuals signedhe agreemeritor Georgetown University Medical CenteResearch
Fellowship Agreement at #Moreover, the agreement itself includes the na@eorgetown
University Medical Centé—and the names of no other institutiongts title.Id. at 1. Finally,

the agreement sfis out the obligations of Plaintiff and of Georgetown University Medical
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Center, but not those of the Hospitald. at 1-4. In short, the unambiguous reading of the
contract as avhole is that it is an agreement only between Plaiatif Georgetown Uwersity
Medical CenterBecause the Hospital is not a party to the contract with Plaintiff, it cannot be
liable for any breaches of that contragust as it is not liable for breaches of the contract with
the United State&

Having established that the Hil is not a party to the contract with Plaintiff, the Court
turns to Defendantargument that they cannot be liabde any breaches of the Research
Fellowship Agreemerttecause the parties voluntarily terminatteat agreement. Plaintiff does
not dispute that a voluntary termination of the Research Fellowship Agreemedtfa@alose
any claims for any putative breach of that contr@eePl.'s Oppn at 37-39. Furthermore,
Plaintiff responds that shactually agrees that the letters exchanged betweeCol. Burns and
Dr. Nelson in an attempt to settle the dispute did in fact rescind the Fellowslepagts toto
with the Georgetown partnetdd. at 37. In other words, Plaintiff claims that, in addition to
rescinding the Research Fellowship Agreent with Georgetown University Medical Center, the

exchange of letterglsorescinded any agreement with the HospRakthermore, Plaintiff claims

15 The two references to the Hospital in the Research Fellowship Agreement dakedhe
Hospital a party to this agreement. Specifically, the agreement states thiff Ridliprovide
services at the Hospital and that the Hospital together with Georgetowrrdityiwedical will
provide liability insurance. Research Fellowship Agreement at 1-2. But #éfesences do not in
any way themselves impose binding obligations on the Hospital or make the Hoppitiyl t
the contract. Notably, Georgetown University Medical Center entered sepaaatecontract
with the Hospital to ensure the provision of insuraseePl.’s Oppn, Ex. 55, at 1. That
separatecontract confirms that the Hospital is a stranger to the contract between Pdaidtiff
Georgetown University Medical Center.

16 plaintiff also attempts to bind the Hospital to the agreement based on a theoryrefiappa
authority. But apparent authority is wholly inapplicable to the contracts at rshis caseThe
signatories to the agreement did not appear to sign it on behalf of the Hospital-the
reasons detailed aboviherefore, tiis simply irrelevant whether they could have bound the
Hosptal under the cloak of “apparent authotityad they purported to do so.
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that, as a result, the subsequent termination by the Hospital and Final Sumraséisement
prepared by.evy constitute defamation, and that those subsequent actions constitute a breach of
the parties* settlement agreemehtinally, as a result athatbreach, according to Plainti€f
theory, Plaintiffs claims for breaches of the original Research Fellgw&greement are no
longer barred by the voluntarglease of that agreemehi.turn, Defendants argue that it is too
late to introduce a claimwhich isnot in the Complainthased on a breach of tke-called
settlement agreemeat the summary judgment stage of this casel in any event, there was no
breach of that agreemeifithe Court agrees with Defendants that, notwithstanding any events
that took place up to the date of thatual releasegheparties mutual releasef thar
obligations under the Research Fellowship Agreerbarg Plaintiffs breach of contract claim
stemming fronthat agreement

As noted above, Plaintiff sent a letter to Nelson, dated April 3, 20&2pé&ctfully
request[ing] to be released from the non-paid Post-doctoral Research Fqllowtbie
Department of Pediatrics at the Georgetown University Medical Center.”rRRésig Letter at 1.
In a letter on Georgetownriiversity Medical Center letteead, Nelson accepted the resignation
and stated as follasv“This letter confirms that, on April 3, 2012, you requested to be released
from the non-paid Post-doctoral Research Fellowship Agreement with Geenggniversity
Medical Center and your request was grarititl.(citing Def’s Mot., Ex. L). The lettefurther
stated thatj[a]s a result, the Research Fellowship Agreement terminated on thatldaféhi's
exchange of letters is enough to terminate the obligations of all partiesthedResearch
Fellowship AgreemenBeeRestatement (Second) of Contracts 8§ 283 (1981) (rescission occurs
when each party releases tither party from all contractual obligation€ooper v. Cooper35

A.2d 921, 923 (D.C. 1944) ‘When a party, even without right, claims to rescind a contract, if
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the other party agrees to the rescission, or does not object thereto, and p&rhgséscinded,

the rescission is by mutual consent. ... It is evident that, when a contracinsieesby mutual
consent or otherwise, no action can be maintainedifoeach theredf.” (quotingRalya v.

Atking 61 N.E. 726, 729 (Ind. 1901Mazur v. Young507 F.3d 1013, 1020 (6th Cir. 2007)
(“There can be no liability for breach of contract under a contract that has b@ededy; see

also Hershon v. Hellman C®b65 A.2d 282, 283 (D.C. 1989) (parties may freely modify contract
by consent).

Plaintiff now claims for the first time that the agreement to rescind the contract was
breached by Defendastsubsequentonduct. Therefore, Plaintiff claims that she may peirs
breach of contract claims that drased on the original contraétAs an initial matterthe Court
agrees wittDefendants that it is too labe this litigation to rely on this newly unveilethim of
a breaclof the agreemernb mutually release oblagions under the Research Fellowship
Agreement That claim is nowhere encompassed within the Second Amended Complaint either
as a stan@lone claim or as the basis for asserting a breach of contract claim wehtresfhe
Research Fellowship Agreementaintiff may not attempt to amend her complaint through her
oppositionin order to assert new claims or new bases for the claims thatigimally asserted

The Court also agrees with Defendants that the record does not support a conclusion that
themutual release of obligations under the Research Fellowship Agreamasiiireached by

Defendantssubsequent condudthe exchange of lettebetween Plaintiff and Georgetown

17The Court does not understand Plaintiff to be now attempting to assert a nealstsndiaim

for breach of contract with respect to thatual release. But if Plaintiff were attemptiiog

present such a clainthe Court would agree with Defendants that it too late to do so given that
no such claim is encompassed within the operative complaint. The Court would also conclude
that such a claim fails a matter of law for the reasoptained in connection with the breach of
contract claims presented in the operative complaint
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University Medical Center makes no referencéheoHospital or to the CommuniBediatrics
and Child Advocacy Fellowship Program at the HospiR&intiff's letterwas addressed to
Nelson in his capacity d&Professor and Chair, Georgetown University Childsededical
Center, Def.'s Mot., Ex. K, and only requested for Plaintifflte released from hé&non-paid
Postdoctoral Research Fellowship in the Department of Pediatrics at the Georgiivwersity
Medical Center.’Id. Nelson responded in kind, writing on letterhead of Georgetown University
Medical Center and granting Plaifitf requested to be released from“then-paid Post-
doctoral Researckellowship Agreement with Georgetown University Medical Céntdr, Ex.

L. The language in both parts of this exchange mirrorethtigtiage in théellowship offer

letter from Georg®wn University Medical Centeld., Ex. H. Notably, Plaintiffs request for
release containecormention of the Hospital or of the Community Pediatrics and Child
Advocacy Fellowship Prograreyenthough the initial termination letter that Plaintiff wasen
on April 3, 2012, referredxplicitly to that programSeeTermination Letter at 1Similarly, the
response to Plaintiff's request for release was sent only from Georgetowearsiyi Medical
Center, and contained no mention of either the Hospittle Community Pediatrics and Child
Advocacy Fellowship Program. Instead, it concluded by statingtbatythe Research
Fellowship Agreemenrtwhich the Court concluded above was only between Plaintiff and the
Medical Center—was terminated as of April 3, 2012eeDef.'s Mot., Ex. L. The Court
concludes that the unambiguous meaning oatireemengmbodied in this exchange of letters
is that Plaintiff and Georgetown University Medical Center agreed to esézarh other from
their obligations and that the rescission had no impact on the legal basis felagiopship
between Plaintiff and the Hospital or the Community Pediatrics and Child AdvBetowship

Program
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Because the mutual releadid not affect Plaintiffs relationship with the Hospital, there
was no breach dhe mutual release agreement when the representatives of the Hospital,
including Levy, prepared and sent the Verification Form and the Final SivarAasessment to
the Air Force, as described fully above. In turn, because there was no such breach, the mutual
rescission of the Research Fellowship Agreement remains fully opeatnélaintiff may not
pursue a claim for a breach of that contract. For that reason, Plaimtg#éich of contract claim

(Count II) fails as a matter of law.

3. Count I11: Breach of Implied Covenant of Good Faith and Fair Dealing

Next Plaintiff claims that Defendants Georgetown University Medical Cantkr
MedStar Georgetown University Hospital breatiiee implied covenant of good faith and fair
dealingin connection witithe agreementkat the Court discussed above. The Court concludes
that this claim fails as a matter of law with respect to both institutional defendants feaions
discussedhere.

To the extent tha®laintiff asserts an implied covenardim against the Hospitahe
claim fails at the outset.nHE Court concluded above that the Hospital was neither a party to the
agreement with the United States nor a party to the agreemermlwiithiff. See suprasections
[1I.LA.1 and 1ll.A.2. Accordingly, Plaintiff may not assert an implied duty clagainst the
Hospitalbased on either of thosgreements, and this claim fails as a matter of law as to the

Hospitall8

18 plaintiff introduces yet another new theory in a footnote in her opposition—of a bremth of
implied-in-fact contract. Pls Oppn at 39 n.10. Plaintif§ atempt to do so in this cursory
fashion is both too little and too late. Plaintiff may not assert any such new claimpaittis
these proceedings not encompassed in the operative complaint.
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Turning to thamplied covenantlaims against Geoegown University Medical Center,
the Court looks first at the Medical Cenieagreement with Plaintiff, followed by the Medical
Centets agreement with the United States.

With respect tdhe Medical Centés agreement with Piatiff, the Court concluded above
that Plaintiff may not assert any claims under that agreement becausedftititary rescission
and releasesgardinghat agreemen&ee suprasection 11l.A.2. For those same reasons, Plaintiff
may not assert any clagased oanyimplied duties associated with that contr&teCooper
35 A.2d at 923Mazur, 507 F.3d at 1020.

The remaining basis for Plaintdfbreach of implied covenantaim isGeorgetown
University Medical Centés agreement with the United Statimportantly, that agreement only
sets out minimal obligations, primarily regarding technical matters such assésfities
regarding Plaintifs remunerationinsurance, and liability. Medical Residency/Fellowship
Agreement at 4. It does not establish any obligations regarding the content of the Fellowship or
regarding the Medical Centsrrelationship with Plaintiff. As explained next, Plaintiff mex
identifiedanyactions that qualify asevading the spirit of the contract, willfully rendering
imperfect performance or interfering with the other garperformancein connection with the
minimal obligations set out by this agreemétdis v. Smith547 A.2d 986, 987-88 (D.C. 1988)

Plaintiff enumerateseveral actions that she claims alee@ach of the implied covenant
associated with that agreeme(at} Levys sending copies of his correspondence regarding
Plaintiff to an internahuman resources official the Department of Pediatrigb) Levy s
scheduling of a shift for Plaintiff durgnatime when she had a conflict; (c) the creatioa of
second termination letter by the Hospital; fftf Hospitainforming the Air Force that Plaintiff

was terminated from her Program by the Hospital; anthégendingof the Final Summative
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Assessmaelo the Air ForceAll of the actionsenumerated hem@her thanthe first actior—the
sending of correspondence—were undertaken by the Hospithlydrmely in his capacity as an
employee of the Hospital. Specifically, the scheduling of Plaistdhift was a matter of business
pertaining tovork at the Hospital. Similarly, the other claims regarding the termination of
Plaintiff's relationship with the Hospital and associated documentation pertain to the Hospital
alone.But actions by theHospitaland its agents cannot serve as the basis for an implied duty
claim againsGeorgetown University Medical Centeparticularly because the agreement did
not impose any obligations on the Hospital in the first instance. Accordingly, ndmesef
actions can serve #se basis for an implied covenant claim against the Medical Center.
Finally, the Court turns to thengle action that Plaintiff identifiess a basis for the
implied covenant claim against Georgetown University Medical Céma¢iat leasarguablyhas
a connection tthatdefendantLevy s act ofsending e-mail corresponderetating to Plaintiff
to Nora Frieden, a human resources offimahe Department of Pediatrioshich occurred
prior to the April 3, 2012, meeting at which Plaintiff watrmed thashe was being
terminatedSeePl.’s Oppn at 40 (citing Pls CounterStmt. 1199-102). Notwithstanding
Plaintiff's broad characterizatisrof this pattern of activity, the record only shows founaals
that Levy sent to FriedeseePl.’s CounterStmt. {199, 100, 102:
1. OnOctober 11, 2011, Levsentan email to Burns, on which he blind

carbon copied*BCC ed”) Frieden and carbon copi€¢tCC ed’) Ana

Caskin, the former interim program director of the pediatrics fellowship

program. In that enal, Levy states that havould like to sit down ... to

discuss how things are going with the fellowship and to follow up on our

conversation a few weeks ag®l’s Oppn, Ex. 40;see alsd?l.’s
CounterStmt. 199.

2. On November 17, 2011, Levy forwarded to Frieden and to Caskin—
without any comment—an mail exchange between hiamd Burns
regardingthe scheduling of a meeting betwdba two of them. PIs
Oppn, Ex. 44;see alsd’l.’s CounterStmt. 1100.
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3. OnJanuary 20, 2012, Levy forwarded to Frieden—again without
comment—an email that Caskin had sent to Levy and to Odom, the
program administratoregarding Burts performance, specifically
concering her coverage of the clinic to which she was assigbet.’
Tort Mot., Ex. 19;see alsd®l.’s CounterStmt. 1102.

4. Also on January 20, 2012, Levy forwarded to Frieden—again without
comment—an email thatOdom had sent to Levy regarding Buen’
performance, specificallgbout suggestions that Burns had made to a
departmerdl staff memberegardingother employment opportunities.
Defs.” Tort Mot., Ex. 31 see alsd’l.'s CounterStmt. 1102.

The record shows thatpwtrary to Plaintiffs characterizatiorL,evy's decision to send
some of his email correspondence withnd regeding Plaintiff—specifically the four enails
described aboveto a Department of Pediatrics human resources official wasdanary act,
particularlygiven the undisputed tensions regarding Plaistiifle at the HospitaMoreover,
this activityby Levyhasno connection to the minimal obligations that the Medical Center
undertook with respect to the United States, which pertained to liability, insussmceelated
technical matterdarticularly in light of the technical nature of the obligasiainder the
contractLevy's action does notévade the spirit of the contraatith the United States,
“willfully render]] imperfect performancedf that contractor interfee with theUnited State's
performance of that contra¢dais, 547 A.2d aB87-88. Nor did_evy's actionsin any way have
“the effect of destroying or injuring the right of the [United States] to re¢bi fruits of the
contract.”ld. (citation and internal quotations omitte@herefore, no reasonable jury could
concludethatLevy's sending of emnail correspondence to an intermaiman resources official
constitutel a breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair destergming out of the
agreement with the United Statéscordingly, or all of these reasons, the Court concludes that

Plaintiff’ s implied covenant claim (Count Ill) fails as a matter of law.

* * *
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In sum, for all of the reasons set out above, the Court concludes that eachtdf’Blai
contract based claimso@nts | through 1ll, fail as a matter of laand the Court grants summary

judgment to Defendants on théfh.

B. Tort Claims(Countsl1V,V, and VI)

Plaintiff asserts three tektased claims in the Second Amended Complaint: a claim for
the negligent defamation against Levy and the Hospital (Count IN@jra tor intentional
defamation against Levy alone (Count V); and a claim for intentional irgade with
prospective economic advantage against Levy (CounDélflendants argue that each of these
claims fais as a matter of law. The Court discussesditiamation claims, followelly the claim

for intentional interference with prospective economic advantage.

1. Defamation Claims

Plaintiff's two defamation claims are based on the transmission of the Verification Form
and the Final Summative Assessment from the Hospital to the Air Miitterespect to both of
the defamation claims, Defendants argue that the claims fail for three indefperdens: (a)
because the claims are based on materials precluded from serving as the basislahssitly
the District of Columbias peer review statute; (b) becausedbemon interest privilegamong

the parties bars the claims; and (c) because therbof the communications that are the basis

19 nsofar as Plaintiff attempts to assert in her oppositiontiraotbased claims on the basiseof
“supercontract’that ties together multiple agreements by the various parties, any such claim
fails becausé is not fairlyencompassed within the operative complaint. As noted above,

Plaintiff may not amend her cotat via her opposition. Moreoveaanysuchclaim would fail

as a matter of lavBased on the unambiguous language of the contracts with Plaintiff, there is no
basis to conclude that there is a chain of contracts that estalalishedditional obligations on

either nstitutional defendant that ruts Plaintiff. The obligations owed to Plaintiff are limited

to the four corners of the contracts discussed in great depth above. No furthesiatisotis

Plaintiff’s new multiple contra¢heory is necessary to reject any such claim as a matter of law.
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of the claims does not constitute defamation as a matter dB&nausehe Court concludes that
the common interest privilege bars the defamation clamite basis of the preseetord and

the Courfgrarts summary judgment to Defendants on that basis, the Court does not address
Defendantsalternative arguments for summary judgment regarding these daims.

“To make out a successful defamation action under District of Columbia law, @fplain
must show ... ‘that the defendant published the statement without privilege to a third’party.’
Mastro v. Potomac Elec. Power Cd47 F.3d 843, 858 (D.C. Cir. 2006) (quotBegeton v.

District of Columbia 779 A.2d 918, 923 (D.C. 2001)). “The common interest privifggéects
otherwise defamatory statements mddie... in good faith, (2) on a subject in which the party
communicating has an interest, or in reference to which he has, or honestly bediénass a

duty to a person having a corresponding interest or duty, (3) to a person who has such a
corresponding interest’’ld. (quotingMoss v. Stockarcb80 A.2d 1011, 1024 (D.C. 1990)).

“Two circumstances foreclose asserting the privilege: first, excessiveatignl, defined as
‘publication to those with no common interest in the information communicated, or publication
not reasonably calculated to protect or further the inteegst, second, publication with malice,
which, within the context of the common interest privilege, is ‘the equivalent of itlad fad.
(quotingMoss 580 A.2d at 1024-25). Finall§f,w]hile the defendant bears the burden of proving
the elements of the common interest privilege, the burden of defeating the prbslsgowing

excessive publication or publication with malice lies wité plaintiff” 1d.

20 For that same reason, the Court need not resolve Defen@aijtslotion In Limineto

Preclude Plaintifis Use at Trial of Evidence Inadmissible under the District of Columbia Peer
Review Satute. Because the Court grants summary judgment to Defendants on a| thaim
Court denie®DefendantsMotion In Limineas moot.
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Plaintiff doesnotargue that the partiet not qualify for the common interest privilege
as ageneral matter. Instead, she oatgues that the record demonstrates that the transmission of
the Verification Form and of the Final Surative Assessment was done with malidewever,
the Court concludes that the record does not support a conclusion that these actions were
“imbued with malicé.Id. at 858.

“District of Columbia law sets a high standard for establishing malice sufficidefaat
the protections of the common interest privilédd. at 859. Malice is defined as “the doing of
an act without just cause or excuse, with such a conscious radifeor reckless disregard as to
its results or effects upon the rights or feelings of others as to constituié 'lliMoss 580 A.2d
at 1025. Furthermore, “even a showing of ill will does not ‘forfeit the privilege so lotiggas
primary purpose is tlurther the interest which is entitled to protecticnMastro, 447 F.3d at
859 (quotingColumbia First Bank v. Ferguspf65 A.2d 650, 656 (D.C. 1995)).

To show malice, Plaintiff relies substantially on the content of the allegef@mndtory
statemerd—the Verification Form and the Final Summative Assessment. Howpwgtess the
statement itself IS0 excessive, intemperate, unreasonable, and abusive as to forbid any other
reasonable conclusion than that the defendant was actuated by expressmadiaEemust be
proven by extrinsic evidenceMoss 580 A.2d at 1024 (quotinigord Motor Credit v. Hollangd
367 A.2d 1311, 1314 (D.C. 19%7Here, the content of the allegedly defamatory documents
defies that characterization. While Plaintiff conteélestruthfulness of both of those documents,
and while the content of the Final Summative Assessment is undoubtedly cfiidaindiff’ s
performance, it is far frorhexcessive, intemperate, unreasonable, and abuBRa#her, it
contains a critical assement of Plaintif6 performance, but in professional language. Moreover,

there is undisputed evidence in the record that this assessment of Rgetiiirmance was
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provided in response to an explicguest fronAir Force officials who were seeking
information about the performanaad experiencef their officerwhose participation in the
training program was fundday the Air ForceSeePl.’s CounterStmt § 113; Grau Memo at 1.
As a result, bcause the Court must exclude the content chitegedly defamatory statements
from its assessment of malice, the Court turns to other evidence that Plaintifiedeagif basis
for her malice argument.

As evidence of malic&laintiff also points to Defendants’ knowledge that the
Verification Formand Final Summative Assessment were to be used for credentialing. However,
their knowledge, in fact, supports the opposite infereficd=orce officials requested that the
Hospital and its officials fill out a form regarding Plairisffellowship experience and,
specifically, requested a review of how Plaintiff satibfieor failed to satisfy-the core
competencies required by the program. Defendants did exactlrtdther than showing malice,
this sequence of events shows that the “ ‘primary purpose [of the communicatiomnfsiriber
the interest which is entitled to protectiohMastro 447 F.3d at 859 (citation omitted). The
evidence on which Plaintiff relies for a showing of malice amounts to a claim éhddthiments
transmitted were themselvidse and thamighthave negative consequences upon submission
to her employer, the Air Force. The Court concludesRlantiff “has presented no evidence
suggesting that the communication of that decision to a small group of appropriatiueldi
wasdriven by anything more than the mundane need for businesses and governments to keep
track of personnel actioridd.

In sum,Plaintiff has“not adduced any evidence raising a genuine issue that [Defendants]
acted outside the scope of applicable priviteghere, the common interest privilege™—in

transmittingthe Verification Form and the Final Summative Assessment to the Air Force.
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Accordingly, the common interest privilege serves to bar both of Plasntiéfamation claims,

and the Court grants summanggment to Defendants regarding the defamation cl&ms.

2. Intentional Interference Claim

“To establish a claim for tortious interference with existing or prospectivedsss
relations under District of Columbia ldwRlaintiff must show/(1) the existence of a valid
business relationship or expectancy, (2) knowledge of the relationshipemt&x@y on the part
of the alleged interferer, (3) intentional interference inducing or caudinggah or termination
of the relationship or expectancy, and (4) resultant dansadpge Int’'l Sec. v. Torres Advanced
Enter. Sols., In¢.857 F. Supp. 2d 97, 103 (D.D.C. 2012) (citBennett Enters., Inc. v. Domirso’
Pizza, Inc.45 F.3d 493, 499 (D.C. Cir. 1995)).

Plaintiff claims that the Final Summative Assessment was sent by Levy to therédr, F
Plaintiff's employer, fn order to interfere with her pspective economic advantage in her
employment. Compl. 1 36. Defendant argues that Plaintiff has not identified any business
expectancies that could serve as the basis for this claim; that Levy waganetsd any such
expectancy; and that Levy did not defame Plaintiff through his actions. Plaisfitids that the
expectancy on which she bases her claas“unencumbered relations with her employer,
unencumbered credentialing, and unencumbered future relations with the Ait RbteeOppn at
60.

Plaintiff’s claim fails athe necessary first step of identifying a “valid business relationship or
expectancy. Plaintiff almost wholly relies on future relations with Plaingfturrent employethe

Air Force.See id.see also idat 6061 (emphasis on future possibility of promotions within the Air

21 Therefore, there is no need to address the pantiesr arguments regarding the viability of the
defamation claimg, including those based on the District of Columbia peer review statute.
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Force and discussing Plaintiff's future career at the Air Force). Howiineetort of intentional
interference with prospective economic advantage only can only be grounddxigmess
expectancies, not grounded mresentcontractual relationships, but which are commercially
reasonable to anticipaté.Democratic State Comm. of D.C. v. Bebchit6 A.2d 569, 573 (D.C.
1998) (quotingCarr v. Brown 395 A.2d 79, 84 (D.C. 1978¢mphasis added] herefore, to the
extent that Plaintifs claim is based on her “present contractual relationshigfh the Air Fore, it
fails asa matter of law.

Other than impacts on her relationship with the Air Force, the only other basis thaffPla
identifiesfor this claim is her ability to obtain credentials in the future at other medicétiés. As
an initial matter, the Court agrees with Defendants that this purported exydstantfairly
encompassed within the clapnesented ithe operative complainfeeCompl. § 36 (identifying
only “prospective economic advantage in her employfm@snexpectancy)n any eventPlaintiffs
suggestion that the Final Summative Assessment will interfere with future tttengitain medical
privileges is unduly speculative. Her general identification of credentidtialieages, in the
abstract, simply does not qualify as a particular busiagpectancy of the sort that can serve as the
basis for an intentional interference claféee Cary 395 A.2d at 84 (Remote expectancies “are not
of the character that may be protected by this cause of action for the tort of interferth
property); see als@lankovic v. Irit Crisis Grp, 593 F.3d 22, 29 (D.C. Cir. 2010u¢zessful claim
“appears to require rather specific business opportunitiilsér tharf generic opportuties of any
successful enterprise”). Accordingly, the Court grants summary judgment to Defendaonnlibey
intentional interference with prospective adtageclaim, as well.

* * *
In sum, for the reasons explained above, the Gpartts summary judgment to

Defendants on the thremntract based claims and the three torbased claims in this action.
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With respect to Defendan{$5] Motion In Limineto Preclude Plaintifs Use at Trial of

Evidence Inadmissible under the Distri€tGplumbia Peer Review Statute, the Court denies that
motion as moot because the Court grants summary judgment in Deféfaamtsvithout

reaching the question whether reliamcecertain materials is barred by the District of

Columbia’s peer review state. With respect to Plaintiff [69] Motion In Limineto Exclude
Evidence of Settlement Discussions, the Court does not rely on evidence thét Béaks to
exclude through this motion. Because the Court grants summary judgment to Defe@ma#int

respecs, it has no need to resolve Plaintiff's MotionLimineand denies that motion as moot.

V. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the Court GRANTS Defendant Ke&&orgetown
University Hospital's [62] Motion for Summary Judgment as to Countsdnd Ill; GRANTS
Defendant Georgetowdniversity Medical Centé [63] Motion for Summary Judgment as to
Counts I, Il, and IIl; and GRANTS Defendant MedS&eorgetown University Hospital’'s and
Defendant Matthew Levy, M.[& [64] Joint Motion for Summary Judgment as to Counts 1V, V,
and VI.

In addition, theCourt DENIES AS MOOT Defendant$5] Motion In Limineto
Preclude Plaintifs Use at Trial of Evidence Inadmissible under the District of Columbia Peer
Review Statute and Plaintgf[69] Motion In Limineto Exclude Evidence of Settlement
Discussions. This case is dismissed in its entirety.

An appropriate Order accompanies this Memorandum Opinion.

Dated:August12, 2016
/sl
COLLEEN KOLLAR-KOTELLY
United States District Judge
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